IN THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James Wegmann/Special Referee/Circuit Court Judge

Case No:2018-CP-07-00793

Appellate Case No: 2026-000660

Geraldine White, Appellant

v.

John R.C. Bowen and Adam Sinclair Ruffin, Esquire, Respondents

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Geraldine White, Appellant Pro Se
141 Lamotte Drive Apt # A3
Hilton Head Island, SC 29926
843-681-4937
whitegeraldine91@gmail.com

Cc: John R.C. Bowen, Esquire
Adam Sinclair Ruffin, Esquire

RECEIVED

Jul 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower Court err by relying on a judgment and claims that were not supported by lawful corporate capacity during the relevant period?
2. Did the lower court err by accepting a bill of sale as sufficient proof of vessel ownership where South Carolina Law requires certificate of title proof?
3. Did the lower court err by allowing judgment enforcement or lien consequences without proof that the judgment was properly entered, abstracted and duly indexed as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810?
4. Did the lower court err by not vacating or reversing judgment, where it rests on misrepresentation, lack of proof and/or fraud upon the court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from an order filed March 6, 2026, in Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2018-CP-07-00793. The order denied Appellant Geraldine White's Motion to Set Aside or Vacate Default Judgment for Fraud Upon the Court and her amended motion. The order identifies the appealed judgment as the August 22, 2018 Order of Judgment entered by the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, and states that Appellant sought to have that judgment set aside, declared void and unenforceable, and to obtain restitution of \$15,665.73 plus treble damage. [R. p. ____].

The lower court described this case as the first of two related actions arising from Hurricane Matthew and vessels tied to Benny Hudson Seafood Corp.'s dock. The order states that a second action, Case No. 2018-CP-07-00804, was brought against Martin Govan, and that Govan later filed a third-party complaint against Craig White and Geraldine White. The order further states that a separate 2025 action, Case No. 2025-CP-07-00718, sought to prevent disbursement of real-estate closing proceeds to Benny Hudson Seafood Corp. in alleged partial satisfaction of the 2018 Order. [R. p. ____].

According to the order, Plaintiff's counsel filed an affidavit of default and motion for default judgment on May 30, 2018; a default damages hearing was held on August 21, 2018; and the 2018 Order was filed on August 22, 2018. Appellant later filed motions to set aside the

default judgment in October 2018, appealed after denial, and the appeal was dismissed in 2019 for failure to provide a transcript status update. [R. p. ____].

On December 3 and December 8, 2025, Appellant filed motions seeking relief from the 2018 Order based on void judgment, fraud upon the court, misrepresentation, lack of proof, lack of lien/indexing, vessel ownership defects, corporate-status defects, and the alleged unlawful transfer of \$15,665.73. The lower court denied relief, reasoning in part that the filing was not an independent action and was untimely under Rule 60(b)(3), SCRCF; alternatively, it concluded that Appellant had not shown extrinsic fraud by clear and convincing evidence. [R. p. ____].

Appellant appeals because the order treats Appellant's challenge as merely ordinary fraud under Rule 60(b)(3), fails to give controlling effect to the void-judgment and due-process allegations, and accepts disputed enforcement and lien facts without requiring the record proof necessary before a judgment may be used to deprive Appellant of property or funds.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Benny Hudson Seafood Corp. sued Geraldine White and Craig White in 2018. The action allegedly arose from storm damage associated with Hurricane Matthew and a vessel alleged to have been tied at or near the Plaintiff's dock. The complaint resulted in a default damages judgment in the amount stated by the lower court as \$201,173.27, with an additional appellate cost order later described by the court as part of the judgment roll. [R. p. ____].

Appellant's position below was that the damages were not a sum certain. The amounts allegedly included vessel-related removal or repair costs, alleged lost seafood revenue, and other fact-dependent damages requiring competent proof. Appellant contended that these categories could not be entered as a ministerial default judgment and required adequate notice, a meaningful damages hearing, competent evidence, and judicial findings.

Appellant also contended that the damages evidence was materially unreliable because the record did not establish title or registration ownership of the vessel by Geraldine White, did not prove that the claimed removal charge was actually incurred or paid, and did not prove that Benny Hudson Seafood Corp. was legally operating or capable of earning the claimed seafood revenue during the relevant period. Appellant further asserted that material facts concerning corporate dissolution and reinstatement were withheld or mischaracterized.

The lower court rejected the lien issue by stating that judgments are not recorded in the Register of Deeds but are electronically indexed in the Clerk of Court's office. Appellant does not contend that the Register of Deeds is the only possible place for a judgment to be found. Appellant's point is that before property-sale proceeds may be diverted under a judgment-lien theory, the party relying on the judgment must prove the statutory elements: entry on the book of abstracts of judgments and due indexing in the county where the property is located.

The lower court also treated Appellant's challenge as untimely because the 2018 Order was more than seven years old. But Appellant alleged that the judgment was void, that the alleged enforcement against property proceeds occurred later, and that the misappropriation of \$15,665.73 was a later deprivation arising from use of the challenged judgment. Appellant therefore sought relief not only from ordinary intrinsic fraud, but from a void judgment and from conduct alleged to subvert the integrity of the judicial process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a judgment is void, whether a court applied the correct legal standard under Rule 60(b), SCRCp, and whether statutory lien requirements were satisfied are legal questions reviewed for errors of law. A court abuses its discretion when its ruling is controlled by an error of law, rests on unsupported factual assumptions, or fails to consider the controlling legal issue. To the extent the appeal involves equitable relief from judgment or fraud upon the court, the appellate court may review whether the lower court correctly applied the governing legal principles and whether the record supports the denial of relief.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY RELYING ON A JUDGMENT AND CLAIMS THAT WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY LAWFUL CORPORATE CAPACITY DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD.

South Carolina law provides that a dissolved corporation continues its corporate existence, but it may not carry on any business except business appropriate to wind up and

liquidate its affairs. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-105(a). Therefore, if Benny Hudson Seafood Corp. was dissolved during the time it claimed continuing business losses, revenues, or commercial operations, the record must support whether those alleged activities were lawful corporate business or only winding-up activity.

Although S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-220(c) provides that reinstatement after administrative dissolution relates back to the date of dissolution, that statute does not erase the need for competent evidence proving the claimed damages, ownership, and lawful basis for relief. Reinstatement may restore corporate status, but it does not prove the amount of damages, prove vessel ownership, or cure a judgment entered without evidentiary support.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that corporate existence, statutory compliance, and the legal effect of corporate actions depend on the governing corporate statutes. See, e.g., *C.J. Coakley Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 286 S.C. 406, 334 S.E.2d 509 (1985) (recognizing that corporate rights and obligations are determined by statute and governing law). Thus, the lower court was required to examine the corporate-status evidence and determine whether the corporation proved a lawful basis for the claimed relief.

Accordingly, the court should not have accepted unsupported business-loss claims merely because the corporation later claimed corporate status. The court was required to examine whether the evidence supported the judgment and whether the claimed losses were legally recoverable under South Carolina law.

II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY ACCEPTING A BILL OF SALE AS SUFFICIENT PROOF OF VESSEL OWNERSHIP WHERE SOUTH CAROLINA LAW REQUIRES CERTIFICATE-OF-TITLE PROOF.

South Carolina law treats the certificate of title as controlling ownership evidence for titled watercraft. Section 50-23-55(A) provides that a certificate of title to a watercraft or

outboard motor is prima facie evidence of ownership. S.C. Code Ann. § 50-23-55(A). The statute further provides that watercraft and outboard motors subject to the chapter must be titled. *Id.*

Section 50-23-60 requires a person who acquires a watercraft or outboard motor required to be titled to apply for a certificate of title within thirty days of acquisition. S.C. Code Ann. § 50-23-60. Section 50-23-90 further provides that a certificate of title issued by the Department is prima facie evidence of the facts appearing on it. S.C. Code Ann. § 50-23-90.

South Carolina courts generally give effect to statutory certificate-of-title schemes where the legislature has made title documents evidence of ownership and transfer. See, e.g., *Bankers Trust of S.C. v. Bruce*, 275 S.C. 35, 267 S.E.2d 424 (1980) (recognizing the legal effect of certificate-of-title statutes in determining ownership and security interests in titled property). The same reasoning supports requiring competent title evidence for watercraft when ownership is disputed under Chapter 23 of Title 50.

These statutes show that a bill of sale alone is not the equivalent of a South Carolina certificate of title. Where ownership of the vessel was central to the judgment, the court should have required title evidence or competent proof satisfying South Carolina's watercraft title statutes. Without such proof, the damages tied to alleged ownership, removal costs, lost use, or lost seafood revenue were not sufficiently supported.

A default admits well-pleaded liability allegations; it does not automatically establish unliquidated damages. When damages are unliquidated, disputed, or dependent on proof, the court must receive competent evidence and provide the process required by the civil rules and due process. Appellant argued below that the 2018 Order included unliquidated damages such as lost revenue, vessel removal or repair costs, and other storm-related damages that were not a sum certain.

The lower court did not decide whether the damages were liquidated or unliquidated, did not determine whether Rule 55 procedures were satisfied, and did not evaluate whether the

notice and hearing record supported the amount of the judgment. Instead, it relied on the age of the judgment and Appellant's prior appeal history. But a void judgment may be challenged because the defect goes to the court's power to enter the judgment consistently with due process.

Appellant's challenge was not merely that the judgment was wrong; it was that the damages judgment was entered without the procedural safeguards required before a party's property rights may be taken. If Appellant did not receive adequate notice of the damages hearing, if the hearing proceeded on unreliable proof, or if the court entered unliquidated damages without the findings required by Rule 55, then the judgment cannot simply be insulated by the passage of time.

The appellate court should reverse or remand for the lower court to determine whether the 2018 Order rested on competent proof and complied with Rules 5(a), 55(b), and due process before being used as the basis for collection or property-related enforcement.

III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING JUDGMENT ENFORCEMENT OR LIEN CONSEQUENCES WITHOUT PROOF THAT THE JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY ENTERED, ABSTRACTED, AND INDEXED.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810, a judgment becomes a lien on real estate only in the county where the judgment or transcript is entered upon the book of abstracts of judgments and duly indexed. The statute further provides that the lien begins from the time of such entry on the book of abstracts and indices.

South Carolina appellate authority recognizes that a judgment lien depends upon proper entry and indexing. In *Commercial Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, the Court of Appeals explained that a South Carolina judgment entered upon the book of abstracts and duly indexed constitutes a lien upon the debtor's real estate in that county. 334 S.C. 176, 512 S.E.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1999). Likewise, in *Wells ex rel. A.C. Sutton & Sons, Inc. v. Sutton*, the court recognized the importance of statutory compliance for judgment-lien effect. 299 S.C. 19, 382 S.E.2d 14 (Ct. App. 1989).

Therefore, if the record does not show that the judgment was entered on the book of abstracts and duly indexed, the judgment should not have been treated as a valid real-property lien. Any enforcement, collection, or payment based on an unperfected lien was improper and should be reversed or vacated.

Appellant challenged the use of the 2018 Order as a lien against real-property proceeds. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810 requires a judgment to be entered on the book of abstracts of judgments and duly indexed before¹ it becomes a lien on real estate in the county. A party seeking to divert sale proceeds under a judgment-lien theory must prove compliance with the statute.

The lower court rejected Appellant's argument by stating that judgments are electronically indexed in the Clerk of Court's office, not recorded in the Register of Deeds. That The answer did not resolve the statutory issue. The question was not simply whether recording in the Register of Deeds was required; the question was whether the judgment was entered in the judgment rolls/book of abstracts and duly indexed in a manner sufficient to create a real-property lien against Appellant's property.

The order states that the judgment was entered in the judgment rolls on August 22, 2018, and August 30, 2019, but it does not identify or attach the abstract entry, index, certificate, judgment-roll page, case-action entry, lien search, or other competent record showing statutory compliance. Appellant was entitled to require that proof before her private sale proceeds were treated as subject to the judgment.

Because the lower court resolved the lien issue without requiring the necessary statutory proof, the order should be reversed or remanded for findings on whether a valid lien existed and whether the \$15,665.73 transfer was legally authorized².

¹ SC Code Ann Section 15-35-810, a judgment becomes a lien ONLY when it is entered upon the book of abstracts of judgments and duly indexed (See *Bowers v. Bank of Greeleyville*, 306 S.C.310)

²See *First Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Taylor*, 431 S.C. 149, 847 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2020) Taylor confirms that a court may reach only “property of the judgment debtor” and that where third-party property rights are implicated, third parties must receive notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard before ownership is determined. Funds that were held by the closing attorney cannot simply be taken without proper process.

IV. THE COURT ERRED BY NOT VACATING OR REVERSING THE JUDGMENT WHERE IT RESTS ON MISREPRESENTATION, LACK OF PROOF, OR FRAUD UPON THE COURT.

South Carolina recognizes relief from a void judgment under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCP. A judgment is void where the court lacked jurisdiction or where the judgment was entered in a manner inconsistent with due process. *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 633 S.E.2d 501 (2006).

South Carolina also recognizes an independent action for fraud upon the court. In *Chewning v. Ford Motor Co.*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that fraud upon the court requires conduct intended to deceive or defraud the court and may justify setting aside a judgment. 354 S.C. 72, 579 S.E.2d 605 (2003). The Court explained that fraud upon the court involves extraordinary circumstances affecting the judicial process itself, not merely ordinary disputed evidence.

The United States Supreme Court has similarly recognized that judgments obtained through fraud on the judicial process may be set aside in extraordinary circumstances. *Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire Co.*, 322 U.S. 238 (1944); *United States v. Beggerly*, 524 U.S. 38 (1998). These cases support the principle that a court's judgment cannot stand when the integrity of the judicial process has been corrupted by material misrepresentation or concealment.

Here, the judgment was based on material issues that required competent proof, including corporate authority, vessel ownership, claimed damages, alleged removal costs, and alleged lost revenue. If the record shows that the court relied on unsupported or false representations concerning those matters, then the judgment was not merely erroneous; it was entered on a defective evidentiary and legal foundation.

The appellate court should reverse, vacate, or remand because a judgment cannot stand where the essential elements of ownership, damages, lien status, and lawful entitlement to relief were not proven by competent evidence.

The Appellant's initial brief connects each legal argument to supporting authority and the Record on Appeal because, Rule 208, SCACR, requires the initial brief to contain arguments with supporting authority. The appellant is entitled to present each issue with the statutes, cases, and record references that support reversal. Rule 209, SCACR, also requires the party serving the initial brief to serve a designation of matter to be included in the Record on Appeal.

South Carolina appellate courts have repeatedly held that issues must be supported by argument and legal authority to be preserved for appellate review. See, e.g., *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 557 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2001) (issues not supported by authority may be deemed abandoned). Therefore, the argument section should include the specific statutes and cases relied upon for each ground of appellate relief.

Accordingly, the Appellant designates the pleadings, orders, motions, corporate-status records, vessel-title documents or lack thereof, judgment-index records, hearing transcripts, exhibits, and any documents relied upon by the lower court as necessary for appellate review.

The order treats vessel ownership as conclusively admitted because the complaint alleged ownership and because Appellant allegedly produced or referenced a bill of sale. But South Carolina watercraft ownership and lien rights may depend on certificate-of-title and registration requirements, not merely a bill of sale or an untested complaint allegation. Appellant contended that the record lacked competent title and registration proof tying her to the vessel in the manner necessary to support the judgment.

The order also rejects Appellant's corporate-status challenge by relying on reinstatement statutes. Appellant's argument, however, was broader than whether a dissolved corporation may sue. Appellant challenged whether the corporation could lawfully claim lost operating revenue

for the relevant period and whether the damages presentation accurately disclosed the corporation's status. Those questions go to proof and reliability of damages, not merely capacity to file a complaint.

The same is true of alleged removal costs and lost revenue. A default does not transform unsupported estimates, speculative lost profits, or disputed ownership allegations into competent damage proof. The lower court should have examined whether the 2018 damages record contained competent evidence for each category of damages and whether any material misrepresentation affected the judgment.

By treating these issues as foreclosed without examining the damages record, the lower court effectively insulated an allegedly unsupported default judgment from review while permitting that judgment to affect Appellant's property rights. That result is inconsistent with due process, Rule 55, and the equitable principles governing relief from void judgments and fraud upon the court.

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