RECEIVED

Sep 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James J. Wegmann, Master-In-Equity

Lower Court Case No. 2018-CP-07-00793

Benny Hudson Seafood Corp., Respondent,

v.

Geraldine White and Craig White, Defendants,

of whom Geraldine White is the Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2026-000660

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUFFIN LAW FIRM, LLC
Adam Sinclair Ruffin
SC Bar No. 101350
1320 Main Street, Suite 300
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 470-5629
adam@ruffinappeals.com

LAUGHLIN AND BOWEN, P.C.
John R.C. Bowen
SC Bar No. 791
P.O. Drawer 21119
Hilton Head Island, SC 29925
(843) 689-5700

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

ARGUMENT

1.

The Master-in-Equity correctly held that Appellant’s motion was untimely, because Rule 60(b), SCRCPP, requires every motion for relief from a judgment to be made within a reasonable time and Appellant filed more than seven years after the judgment was entered and more than six years after her first appeal was dismissed.

Relevant Facts

The order on appeal, which denied Appellant’s Rule 60(b) motion, rests primarily on the fact that her motion was untimely. The Master-in-Equity held that Appellant did not file an independent action but instead filed a motion within this existing case, so her request was governed by Rule 60(b)(3), SCRCPP, and had to be brought within one year of the judgment. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 5). The Master found that Appellant’s motion was untimely because the 2018 Order was entered more than seven years before she filed and she offered no explanation for the delay. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order pp. 5–6). The Master also held that, even if Appellant’s filing were treated as an independent action, it would fail because it was not filed within a reasonable period. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order pp. 5–6).

On appeal, Appellant contends that the order treats her challenge as ordinary fraud under Rule 60(b)(3), SCRCPP, and “fails to give controlling effect to the void-judgment and due-process allegations.” (Appellant’s Br. p. 2). She argues that because she alleged the judgment was void, it “cannot simply be insulated by the passage of time.” (Appellant’s Br. p. 6). However, she does not address the Master-in-Equity’s alternative holding that her filing was not made within a reasonable period nor does she argue that her motion was brought in a reasonable time. (Appellant’s Br. pp. 3–10).

Discussion

Rule 60(b), SCRCP provides that a motion for relief from a judgment “shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1) [mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect], (2) [newly discovered evidence], and (3) [fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party] not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken.” The one-year cap expressly applies to claims of fraud. The reasonable-time requirement applies to claims that the judgment is void or if the claim of fraud is brought in an independent action. *Id*; *McDaniel v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 324 S.C. 639, 642-44, 478 S.E.2d 868, 870-71 (Ct. App. 1996).

“The one year limit is a non-discretionary mandate whereas the ‘reasonable time’ limitation is discretionary and should be determined under the facts and circumstances of each case.” *In re Coleman*, 303 S.C. 511, 513, 402 S.E.2d 181, 183 (Ct. App. 1991). This Court has defined the term “void” as it is used in Rule 60(b)(4) as “only encompass[ing] judgments from courts which failed to provide proper due process, or judgments from courts which lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.” *McDaniel*, 324 S.C. at 644, 478 S.E.2d at 871.

Appellant’s premise is therefore wrong. Calling the 2018 Order void did not relieve her of the obligation to seek relief within a reasonable time, and the Master-in-Equity expressly found that she had not done so. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order pp. 5–6). That finding is an independent ground for affirmance, and Appellant does not challenge it.

Nor is this a case in which a party first learned of a judgment when the opposing party began to enforce it. Appellant was personally served with the Summons and Complaint on April 16, 2018, served with the 2018 Order on August 23, 2018, moved to set aside the judgment on October 30, 2018, and appealed after that motion was denied. Appellant has known of this

judgment, and of the grounds she now argues, since 2018. She waited more than seven years, and she has never explained why. The Master thus correctly found that her motion was not brought within a reasonable time.

In any event, the 2018 Order is not void. A judgment is void where the court acted without jurisdiction. *See BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 551, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006) (“A judgment is void if a court acts without personal jurisdiction”); *see also Thomas & Howard Co. v. T. W. Graham & Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995) (“A void judgment is one that, from its inception, is a complete nullity and is without legal effect”).

Appellant was personally served, received notice of the damages hearing, and was told by Respondent’s counsel’s office to appear. (Order of J. pp. 2–3; Mar. 6, 2026 Order pp. 2–3, 7 n.15). The court had jurisdiction over her person and over the subject matter, and she had notice and an opportunity to be heard that she elected not to use. Her actual complaints—corporate capacity, proof of vessel ownership, the sufficiency of the damages evidence, and the indexing of the judgment—are arguments that the judgment was wrong. They are not arguments that the court lacked the power to enter it.

Finally, the order on appeal is the March 6, 2026 order, not the 2018 Order, and the question before this Court is whether the Master-in-Equity abused his discretion in denying relief. To the extent Appellant challenges the untimeliness holding at all, she does so only in the narrative sections of her brief. No issue statement and no argument heading is directed at it, and she cites no authority for the proposition that a void-judgment claim is exempt from the reasonable-time requirement. (Appellant’s Br. pp. 1–10). “[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.” *Glasscock*,

Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001). This Court should affirm the Master's well-reasoned order.

2.

The Master-in-Equity correctly found no extrinsic fraud in Respondent's corporate status, because reinstatement relates back and Respondent filed suit more than a year after it was reinstated.

Relevant Facts

Appellant alleged below that Benny Hudson was administratively dissolved on May 23, 2015, that it did not apply for reinstatement until March 2017, and that it withheld its dissolution from her and from the court. (Am. Mot. ¶¶ 2, 8). She argued that a dissolved corporation may not maintain a lawsuit other than to wind up its affairs, and that Benny Hudson therefore lacked standing to sue for events occurring in 2016. (Am. Mot. ¶ 2).

The Master-in-Equity rejected the argument. He found that a dissolved corporation may sue and be sued in its corporate name, that reinstatement relates back to the effective date of the administrative dissolution, and that Benny Hudson had been reinstated for more than a year when it filed the Complaint on April 16, 2018. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order pp. 9–10). He further found that the failure to volunteer the administrative dissolution was not extrinsic fraud upon the court. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 10 n.19).

Discussion

As an initial matter, Appellant has not cited to any authority supporting her position and her argument is therefore abandoned on appeal. *See Glasscock*, 348 S.C. at 81, 557 S.E.2d at 691. The only case Appellant cites to in her argument is an incorrect citation: *C.J. Coakley Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 286 S.C. 406, 334 S.E.2d 509 (1985). This case does not exist. The citation 286 S.C.

406 is in fact *State v. Smith*, 286 S.C. 406, 334 S.E.2d 277 (1985)—a capital murder case having nothing to do with corporate dissolution—and the citation 334 S.E.2d 509 is in fact *State v. Davis*, 77 N.C. App. 68, 334 S.E.2d 509 (1985)—a North Carolina criminal case having nothing to do with corporate dissolution. Undersigned has found no case in South Carolina bearing the name *C.J. Coakley Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*. This Court should strike Appellant’s argument on this issue based on her sole case citation being a false representation to this Court.

Additionally, the statutes say what the Master-in-Equity said they say. Dissolution “does not prevent commencement of a proceeding by or against the corporation in its corporate name.” S.C. Code § 33-14-105(c)(5). And when reinstatement is effective, “it relates back to and takes effect as of the effective date of the administrative dissolution and the corporation resumes carrying on its business as if the administrative dissolution had never occurred.” S.C. Code § 33-14-220(c). Benny Hudson was reinstated in March 2017 and filed this action in April 2018. Its capacity to sue was not in doubt. This Court should affirm the Master’s well-reasoned order.

3.

The Master-in-Equity correctly found Appellant’s ownership of the boat was established by her defaulting on the well-pleaded complaint, and that she affirmatively admitted ownership in her 2018 filings and by producing a bill of sale showing she was the owner.

Relevant Facts

The Complaint alleged that Appellant owned the F/V “Papa’s Grace.” (Compl. ¶ 2). Appellant did not answer, and the allegation was admitted. (Order of J. p. 2). In the memorandum she filed on October 30, 2018 in support of her motion to set aside the default, Appellant stated at page 7 that “Defendants was [are] the owner[s] of the subject boat, named Poppas Grace.” (Mem.

of Points and Authorities p. 7). She also produced a bill of sale showing that the vessel was jointly owned by the Whites. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 8).

The Master-in-Equity found that the ownership dispute “is not extrinsic fraud but is a factual argument on the factual allegations in the Summons and Complaint,” and that Appellant’s position was contradicted by her own filings. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 8). He also noted Judge Mullen’s finding in the 2025 action that, when Appellant moved to set aside the entry of default in 2018, “she did not dispute her ownership of the vessel involved.” (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 8; Nov. 24, 2025 Order p. 3). The Master also correctly found that “[b]y failing to timely answer the Complaint, the allegations are considered admitted.” *Id.*

Discussion

Ownership of the vessel was pleaded in the Complaint, admitted by Appellant’s default, and then affirmatively conceded by Appellant in her own 2018 filings. A present disagreement about that fact is a disagreement about the merits, a disagreement that Appellant is foreclosed from raising. *See Roche v. Young Bros.*, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998) (“It is well settled that by suffering a default, the defaulting party is deemed to have admitted the truth of the plaintiff’s allegations and to have conceded liability”); *see also State ex rel. Medlock v. Love Shop, Ltd.*, 286 S.C. 486, 488, 334 S.E.2d 528, 530 (Ct. App. 1985) (“entry of an order of default is an admission by the defaulting party of the well-pleaded allegations of the complaint”). Appellant was in default on her ownership of the boat and cannot now contest it. Furthermore, as explained above, Appellant affirmatively conceded her ownership of the boat in her filings. (Mem. of Points and Authorities p. 7). This Court should affirm.

The second half of Appellant’s argument on this issue contends that the 2018 damages were unliquidated and were entered without the process Rule 55, SCRPC, requires. (Appellant’s Br. pp.

5–6). That argument was not made below, nor was it ruled on by the Master. Appellant’s Amended Motion challenged the damages figures as false; it never raised the liquidated-unliquidated distinction. (Am. Mot. ¶ 4). “At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (citing *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)). If a trial judge has not ruled on an issue, the appellate court should not decide it for the first time on appeal. *Blair v. Blair*, 302 S.C. 399, 402, 396 S.E.2d 374, 376 (Ct. App. 1990).

Appellant concedes that the Master did not rule on this issue in her brief: “[t]he lower court did not decide whether the damages were liquidated or unliquidated, did not determine whether Rule 55 procedures were satisfied, and did not evaluate whether the notice and hearing record supported the amount of the judgment.” (Appellant’s Br. pp. 5–6). Where the court does not rule on an issue, the party must move under Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to preserve it. *See I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review”). Appellant filed no such motion and this argument is not preserved for appeal.

4.

The Master-in-Equity correctly rejected Appellant's judgment-indexing argument, because judgments are indexed in the office of the clerk of court and the property at issue lies in the county where the judgment was entered.

Relevant Facts

Appellant argued below that the 2018 Order was never recorded or indexed in the Beaufort County Register of Deeds Office, and that an unindexed judgment could not support collection. (Am. Mot. ¶¶ 5, 9).

The Master-in-Equity correctly noted that judgments are not recorded or indexed in the Register of Deeds Office but are electronically indexed in the Beaufort County Clerk of Court's Office under the corresponding case number, that both judgments here were properly indexed. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 8). He separately found that the 2018 Order was entered in the judgment rolls of the Beaufort County Clerk of Court on August 22, 2018, and that the appellate cost award was entered on August 30, 2019. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 4).

Discussion

The statute does not say what Appellant says it says. A judgment constitutes a lien on the debtor's real estate "in any county in this State in which the judgment or transcript thereof is entered upon the book of abstracts of judgments and duly indexed." S.C. Code § 15-35-810. The statute speaks of the judgment rolls, not the Register of Deeds. The 2018 Order was entered in Beaufort County, and the property from which the disputed proceeds came is on Hilton Head Island, in Beaufort County.

Pursuant to Section 15-35-520 of the South Carolina Code, the clerk of court is required to enter in the abstract of judgments book each judgment, including the name of the defendant and

plaintiff. *See also Thomas v. Thomas*, 286 S.C. 294, 298, 333 S.E.2d 76, 78 (Ct. App. 1985). This is what was done in this case after the default judgment was obtained against Appellant.

Furthermore, whether a judgment has been perfected as a lien is a question about enforcement and is not a question about the validity of the judgment. Even if Appellant were correct that there was some defect in the lien, this would not entitle her to vacation of the underlying judgment. Finally, the disbursement of \$15,665.73 was litigated in Case No. 2025-CP-07-00718 and decided against Appellant on summary judgment, and that ruling is now pending before this Court in Appellate Case No. 2025-002399. (Nov. 24, 2025 Order pp. 3–4). The Master-in-Equity correctly found Appellant’s arguments to be without merit and this Court should do the same.

5.

The Master-in-Equity correctly found that Appellant failed to prove extrinsic fraud by clear and convincing evidence.

Relevant Facts

Appellant alleged five species of fraud upon the court: that she was instructed not to attend the damages hearing; that Respondent used an unrecorded, unindexed, unperfected judgment; that Respondent falsely claimed she owned the boat; that Respondent withheld its dissolution; and that Respondent misappropriated \$15,665.73. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 6).

On the first allegation, Appellant relied on an October 17, 2018 letter from attorney Patrick Carr. The Master-in-Equity found that the letter does not say Mr. Carr’s office instructed her not to attend the August 21, 2018 hearing. It says the firm could not represent her, that it had learned a judgment had been entered against her, and that she should retain counsel immediately to contest the judgment under Rule 60(b), SCRPC. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 7). The court also had before it the

November 6, 2018 affidavit of Susan Vogel, which states that Appellant telephoned Respondent's counsel's office before the hearing, said she had been unable to obtain an attorney, and was told to appear and reminded that the hearing was before Judge Dukes at 9:00 a.m. at the Beaufort County Courthouse. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order p. 7 n.15).

The Master-in-Equity further found that the advice Appellant describes came from a law office she had consulted, not from Respondent or its counsel, and that she had raised the same allegation at the January 2019 hearing on her motion to set aside the default. (Mar. 6, 2026 Order pp. 6 n.11, 6 n.14).

Discussion

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